SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE NO. 1110

On November 13, 2023, the City of Haysville, Kansas adopted Ordinance No. <u>1110</u> AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS OF THE CITY OF HAYSVILLE KANSAS. A complete copy of this ordinance is available at <u>www.haysville-ks.com</u> or at City Hall, 200 W. Grand, Haysville, Kansas. This summary certified by Joshua Pollak, City Attorney.

HAYSVILLE SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS

Approved by the Planning Commission on September 28, 2023, Adopted by the City Council on November 13, 2023 by Ordinance # 1110



City of Haysville 200 W. Grand Haysville, KS 67060 316.529.5900 www.haysville-ks.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I. TITLE, PURPOSE, AUTHORITY, AND JURISDICTION	1
ARTICLE II. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT	4
ARTICLE III. INTERPRETATION, CONSTRUCTION, AND DEFINITIONS	7
ARTICLE IV. PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISION PLATS	14
ARTICLE V. CONTENTS OF PLANS AND PLATS	21
ARTICLE VI. DESIGN STANDARDS	30
ARTICLE VII. INSTALLATION OF REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS	42
ARTICLE VIII. IMPROVEMENT PROCEDURES	47
ARTICLE IX. BUILDING AND OTHER PERMITS	51
ARTICLE X. APPEALS AND VARIANCES	52
ARTICLE XI. LOT – SPLITS	53
ARTICLE XII. AMENDMENTS	56
ARTICLE XIII. SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE	56

SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS FOR HAYSVILLE, KANSAS

ARTICLE I. TITLE, PURPOSE, AUTHORITY, AND JURISDICTION Section 1. Short Title.

These regulations shall be known as the "Haysville Subdivision Regulations," and shall hereinafter be referred to as "these regulations."

Section 2. Purpose.

These Subdivision Regulations are designed and intended to serve the following purposes:

- 1. To provide for the harmonious development of the City of Haysville and portions of the unincorporated area of Sedgwick County;
- 2. To provide for the proper location and width of streets, building lines, open spaces, drainage, safety, and recreational facilities and for the avoidance of congestion of population;
- 3. To provide for the minimum width, depth, and area of lots;
- 4. To specify the extent to which, or manner in which road ways shall be graded and improved;
- 5. To specify the extent to which, or manner in which water, sewer, and other utility mains and piping or connections or other physical improvements shall be installed; and
- 6. To provide for and secure to the proper Governing Body, the actual construction of such physical improvements.

Section 3. Authority.

The requirements and recommendations set forth herein are designed to encourage an orderly municipal growth for Haysville through responsible land subdivision and are adopted under authority established by K.S.A. 12-741, et seq, as amended, 12-742, 12-749, 12-751 and 12-752, 12-760 and 12-761, 12-764, 12-766, 12-3009 through 12-3012, and 12-3301 and 12-3302.

Section 4. Jurisdiction.

These regulations shall apply to all subdivisions of land within the corporate limits of the City of Haysville, as presently exists or are hereafter established, and within the Urban Area of Influence as defined by the Metropolitan Area Planning Commission and Sedgwick County Board of County Commissioners.

Section 5. Applicability.

Any owner or owners of land subdividing the same into lots and blocks or tracts or parcels for the purpose of laying out any subdivision, suburban lots, building lots, tracts or parcels or establishing any street, alley or other property intended for public use or for the use of any purchaser or owner of lots, tracts, or parcels of land fronting on or adjacent thereto shall cause a subdivision plat to be made in accordance to these regulations unless exempted under Section 6.

Section 6. Exemptions.

Notwithstanding the requirements of Sections 2 through 5, these regulations shall not apply in the following instances or transactions:

- 1. For land in the unincorporated area, the division or further division of land into unplatted metes and bounds tracts, each of which contains 20 or more acres, and which:
 - a. Does not involve any new streets or easements of access, as determined by the Planning Commission, and is located adjacent to a public road which has been accepted by the County or a township or which is located adjacent to an existing private road whose right-of-way width conforms to the right-of-way standards of this Regulation.
 - b. In the case of an existing private road, there must be covenants filed of record which provide for the maintenance of the private road. The covenants must provide a mechanism which authorizes the County to maintain the private road, and charge incurred costs to the owners of the land being provided access, if the owners fail to maintain the private road.
 - c. Has land suitable for dwelling purposes which is not located in an area subject to flooding as determined by Section 2 of Article VI of these Regulations. If any portion of unincorporated property lies in a flood hazard area as shown on the Flood Boundary and Floodway Maps published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency or if drainage channels and swales exist on the property which carry runoff from adjacent property or public roads, the flood hazard area or drainage channel shall be protected by grant of easement, dedication or other similar device as may be required by the County Director of Public Works;
 - d. If the property is located adjacent to a public road right-of way which does not conform to the right-of-way width requirements of these Regulations, additional right-of-way shall be granted by dedication or easement as may be required to conform to these Regulations.
 - e. Is to be used for agricultural or single-family residential purposes only; and
 - f. Conforms to any applicable zoning regulations and sanitary code.
- A change in the boundary between adjoining lands which does not create an additional lot or tract or which does not result in the creation of a substandard lot by either owner according to any applicable zoning regulations or sanitary code.

- 3. Land used for street or railroad right-of-way, a drainage easement or other public utility easement subject to local, state or federal regulations; where no new street or easement of access is involved.
- 4. Land used for highway or other public purposes relating to the dedication of a parcel of land for a public use or instruments relating to the vacation of land impressed with a public use.
- 5. A correction of a description in a prior conveyance, provided that such a conveyance shall be clearly labeled as a "correction conveyance" and shall clearly identify the proper conveyance that is the subject of correction and the error contained in such prior conveyance.
- 6. Whenever any lot, parcel, or tract of land located within the area governed by these regulations has been subdivided, resubdivided or replatted prior to the adoption of these regulations.
- 7. Any lot split approved in accordance with these regulations.
- 8. Any transfer by operation of law.

It shall be the responsibility of the property owner or their agent to provide to the Zoning Administrator copies of recorded instruments which show the name of the current owner and a complete legal description of the property for which an exemption is requested, including documentation identifying that date upon which the legal description for the property was established.

Any request made in writing for a determination as to qualifications for being exempt from these Regulations shall be answered by the Zoning Administrator either in the affirmative or negative within 30 days after the filing of the request or the exemption shall be considered granted.

ARTICLE II. ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT

Section 1. Division of Responsibility.

The administration of these regulations is vested in the following governmental branches, agencies, departments or individuals of the city government:

- 1. Zoning Administrator
- 2. Office of the City Clerk of Haysville, known as the City Clerk.
- 3. Haysville Planning Commission.
- 4. Haysville Governing Body.

Each of the above named governmental branches, agencies, departments or individuals shall have the responsibilities hereinafter set forth.

Section 2. Duties of the Zoning Administrator

The Zoning Administrator, or designee, shall administer the provisions of these regulations and in furtherance of such authority, shall:

- 1. Inform applicants of procedures required for subdivision approval and vacations, provide application forms and other administrative forms to facilitate the process, and convey to subdividers the decisions of the Planning Commission.
- 2. Receive and establish files for all sketch plans, preliminary and final plats, replats, final plats for small tracts, lot splits and vacations together with applications therefore.
- 3. After determining the adequacy of the information submitted as suitable for distribution, forward copies of the preliminary plat and final plats for small tracts, when deemed necessary, to other appropriate governmental agencies and public and private utilities providers for their comments and recommendations.
- 4. Review and compile a list of comments on all preliminary plats to determine whether such plats comply with these regulations and similarly review and compile a list on all final plats to determine whether they comply with the preliminary plat, if any, and these regulations.
- 5. Forward preliminary and final plats to the Planning Commission for their consideration, together with the list of comments and recommendations.
- 6. Following review recommendation by the Planning Commission on all matters reviewed by the Planning Commission, check and assemble all pertinent data and drawings, then forward such recommendation and associated documentation to the Governing Body for final action.
- 7. Issue determinations of when property divisions are exempt from these Regulations as provided herein.
- 8. Make such other determinations and decisions as may be required by these regulations.

Section 3. Duties of the Office of the City Clerk Related to These Regulations.

The City Clerk of the City of Haysville shall:

- 1. File at least one copy of these regulations marked by the Clerk as "Official Copy as Incorporated by Ordinance No. _", (i.e., the ordinance adopting these regulations as approved by the Governing Body). Such copies maintained by the Clerk shall be open to inspection and available to the public at all reasonable business hours.
- 2. Distribute at cost to the City, official copies of these regulations to the police department, court, planning and zoning administrator, building inspector, city attorney, and all administrative departments of the City charged with the enforcement of these regulations.
- 3. Process the required filing fees.
- 4. Provide clerical assistance to the Governing Body so as to facilitate and record their actions in the exercise of their duties relating to these regulations.

Section 4. Duties of the Haysville Planning Commission.

The Haysville Planning Commission shall:

- 1. Review and approve, approve conditionally, or disapprove preliminary plats.
- 2. Review and approve, approve conditionally, or disapprove final plats for compliance with the preliminary plat as approved, and approve or disapprove final plat and transmit same to the Governing Body for acceptance of dedications of streets, alleys and other public ways and sites.
- 3. Make recommendations to the Governing Body on vacations of recorded plats, rights-of-way, easements, and other public reservations.
- 4. Make such other determinations and decisions as may be required of the Commission from time to time by law or these regulations

Section 5. Duties of the Governing Body.

The Governing Body shall:

- 1. Accept or not accept dedications of streets, alleys, easements, alleys, easements and other public ways and sites shown on final plats and in cases of disapproval or modification shall inform the subdivider and Planning Commission in writing of the reasons.
- 2. Approve or not approve vacations of recorded plats, rights-of-way, easements and other public reservations and, in the unincorporated area, to recommend or protest such vacations to be considered by the Board of County Commissioners.

Section 6. Enforcement.

No plat, lot split or vacation request shall be approved which does not comply with the provisions of these regulations.

Section 7. Filing Fees.

For the purpose of defraying costs of proceedings described herein, filing fees shall be paid upon the filing of each application as established by Chapter 17 of the Haysville Municipal Code adopted by the governing body.

ARTICLE III. INTERPRETATION. CONSTRUCTION, AND DEFINITIONS

Section 1. Interpretation and Construction.

- 1. Where the conditions imposed by the provisions of these regulations are either more restrictive or less restrictive than comparable conditions imposed by any other provisions of any other applicable local law, ordinance, regulation, resolution, rule or regulation of any kind, the regulation that is more restrictive and imposes higher standards of requirements shall govern.
- 2. The provisions of these regulations are not intended to abrogate any easement, covenant or other private agreement, provided that where the requirements of this regulation are more restrictive or impose higher standards or regulations than such easement, covenant or other private agreement, the requirements of these regulations shall govern.
- 3. No subdivision of land shall be made lawful solely by the adoption of these regulations if such subdivision did not lawfully exist at the time of the adoption of these regulations. If any existing subdivision of land is in conflict with these regulations in any manner, such subdivision shall remain unlawful until the requirements of these regulations have been complied with.
- 4. The provisions of these regulations are cumulative and additional limitations upon all other laws and ordinances therefore passed or which may be passed hereafter governing any subject matter set forth in the provisions of these regulations.
- 5. In the construction of these regulations, the provisions and rules of this Section shall be preserved and applied, except when the context clearly requires otherwise:
 - a. The singular number includes the plural and the plural the singular;
 - b. The present tense includes the past and future tenses and the future the present; and
 - c. The word "shall" is mandatory while the word "may" is permissive.
- 6. Any word or phrase which is defined in this Article or elsewhere in these regulations shall have the meaning as so defined whenever used in these regulations, unless such definition is expressly limited in its meaning or scope.
- 7. Words or terms not herein defined shall have their ordinary meaning in relation to the context.

Section 2. Definitions.

Any word or phrase that is defined in this Section shall have the meaning assigned to it by said Section wherever the word or phrase is used in these regulations.

1. <u>Access Control.</u> The limitation of public access rights to and from properties abutting streets or highways. Access control is used to preserve high-quality traffic service and to improve safety.

- 2. <u>Agriculture.</u> The use of a tract of land for growing crops, pasturage, nurseries, dairying or the raising of poultry or cattle and other livestock, including the structures necessary for carrying out farm operations and the residence(s) of those owning and operating the premises such as a member of the family thereof or persons employed thereon and their families. The feeding or disposal of community or collected garbage shall not be deemed an agricultural use, nor shall riding academies, livery or boarding stables, dog kennels, commercial feedlots or commercial greenhouses; however, woodland and non-producing open space land are considered agricultural.
- 3. <u>Base Flood Elevation</u>. The highest elevation, expressed in feet above mean sea level, of the level of flood waters having a one percent chance of being equaled or exceeded in any given year (commonly called the 100-year storm).
- 4. <u>Benchmark.</u> Surveying mark made in some object that is permanently fixed in the ground, showing the height of that point in relation to North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88).
- 5. <u>Blocks.</u> A tract of land bounded by streets, or by a combination of streets, railway rights-of-way or waterways.
- 6. <u>Building Setback Line.</u> A line indicating the limit beyond which buildings or structures may not be erected. Such line may be more, but not less restrictive than applicable zoning or other regulations.
- 7. <u>Dedication.</u> Gift or donation of real property by the owner to a governmental unit. The transfer is conveyed by a plat or a written separate instrument. The act of dedicating is completed with a formal acceptance by the governing body.
- 8. <u>Design Standards</u>. The basic land planning principles established as guides or requirements for the design and layout of subdivisions as described in these regulations.
- 9. <u>Detention Pond</u>. A storage facility for the temporary storage of storm water runoff designed in such a way to limit the maximum discharge to an amount equal to pre-developed conditions.
- 10. <u>Developer.</u> The legal or beneficial owner or owners of a lot or of land proposed to be subdivided including the holder of an option or contract to purchase, or other person having enforceable proprietary interests in the land. (see also Owner; Subdivider)
- 11. <u>Developer's Agreement</u>. A contractual agreement signed and notarized by the subdivider and the City or County, depending upon the location of the land being subdivided, which is conditioned upon approval of the final plat and acceptance of dedications thereon with primary concern for the installation and guarantees for public improvements.
- 12. <u>Easement.</u> A grant of specific property rights to land for the use of the public, a corporation or another person or entity.
- 13. <u>Easement, Drainage</u>. An easement required for the installation of storm water sewers or waterways and/or required for the preservation or maintenance of a natural stream or water course or other drainage facility.
- 14. <u>Encroachment</u>. Any obstruction in a delineated floodway, right-of-way, easement, building setback or adjacent land.

15. Frontage.

- a. <u>Street Frontage</u>. The property on one side of a street between two intersecting streets (crossing or terminating) measured along the line of the street; or with a dead-end street, all property abutting on side of such street measured from the nearest intersecting street and the end of the dead-end street.
- b. <u>Lot Frontage</u>. That portion of the lot that lies between the side lot lines and is adjacent to the street serving the lot.
- 16. Governing Body. The Mayor and City Council of the City of Haysville.
- 17. <u>Improvements.</u> All facilities constructed or erected by a subdivider within a subdivision to permit and facilitate the use of lots or blocks for a principal residential, business or manufacturing purpose. Improvements shall include all facilities listed in Article VII of these regulations.
- 18. <u>Infrastructure.</u> Facilities and services needed to sustain industry, residential, institutional, and commercial activities.
- 19. <u>Lot.</u> A portion of a subdivision or other parcel of land intended as a unit of ownership and occupied or intended to be occupied by one main building and an accessory building or a complex of buildings, including the open spaces and parking required by these regulations.
 - a. Lot, Double Frontage (a.k.a. Through Lot). A lot other than a corner lot, two opposite lot lines of which abut upon streets which are more or less parallel. On a Double Frontage or Through Lot, both street lines shall be deemed front lot lines, but in the case of two or more contiguous through lots, there shall be a common front lot line.
 - b. <u>Lot, Reverse Frontage.</u> A lot whose rear lot line also serves as the street line for a limited access highway or street.
 - c. <u>Lot, Corner.</u> A lot situated at the intersection of two streets. A lot abutting on a curved street or streets shall be considered a corner lot if straight lines drawn from the foremost points of the side lot lines to the foremost point of the lot meet at an interior angle of less than 135 degrees.
 - d. Lot, Through. (See Lot, Double Frontage.)
 - e. Lot, Interior. A lot whose side lot lines do not abut upon any street.
- 20. <u>Lot Split.</u> The dividing or redividing of a lot or lots in a recorded plat of a subdivision into tracts that meets the criteria established within these regulations.
- 21. <u>Master Plan.</u> Any plan or map adopted by the City for guidance of growth and improvement of the City and its environs including modifications or refinements that may be made from time to time.
- 22. <u>Minimum Pad Elevation</u>. The lowest ground elevation completely surrounding a structure or the lowest flood proofed opening into a structure. This elevation is expressed in city datum or mean sea level.
- 23. <u>Open Space</u>. An area of land or water, or combination thereof, planned for passive or active recreation or for protection, conservation or for preservation of natural resources, but does

- not include areas utilized for streets, alleys, driveways, or private roads, off-street parking or loading areas, or required, front, rear or side yards.
- 24. Original Tract. A tract of land in existence at the time, in 1969, that Sedgwick County adopted Subdivision Regulations. (July 1, 1969)
- 25. Owner. Any person or persons, firm or firms, corporation or corporations, or any other legal entity having legal title to land sought to be subdivided under these regulations. (See also, Developer; Subdivider)
- 26. <u>Pedestrian Way (Crosswalk).</u> A right-of-way across a block or providing access within a block to be used primarily for pedestrian traffic.
- 27. <u>Petition.</u> A legal instrument which serves as the basis for initiation of a public improvement project. A petition is frequently used during the platting process to guarantee the construction of certain improvements, e.g., street paving, water and sewer lines, drainage, etc. A petition is valid if its signatures are more than 50% either by area within the benefit district or by ownerships. Petitions are also used to initiate the vacation of streets, alleys, easements, other public reservations and plats.
- 28. <u>Planning Consultant.</u> Any person, firm, partnership, association, or corporation contracted to provide professional planning advice or service to the city.
- 29. <u>Planned Unit Development (PUD)</u>. A platted parcel, subdivision, or district that contains specific zoning rules as a replacement for the adopted city regulations as approved by the governing body.
- 30. <u>Planned Unit Development Plat.</u> A plat containing additional language and depictions unique to one or more parcels contained therein, superseding zoning and subdivision regulations as approved by the planning commission and city council.
- 31. <u>Plat.</u> An engineering drawing/map of a tract of land which has been lawfully subdivided meeting the criteria established in the subdivision regulations and duly recorded in the office of the Register of Deeds of Sedgwick County.
 - a. <u>Sketch Plat.</u> A map or plan of a proposed subdivision made prior to the preparation of the preliminary plat to enable the subdivider to save time and expense in reaching tentative general agreements by a discussion of the form and objectives of these regulations.
 - b. <u>Preliminary Plat.</u> A tentative map or plan of a proposed subdivision of land showing the character and general details of the proposed development.
 - c. <u>Final Plat.</u> A map or plan of a subdivision prepared in accordance with these regulations to be placed on record with the County Register of Deeds.
 - d. <u>Replat.</u> A new plat of a revision to a subdivision or portion thereof for which a final plat has previously been recorded. Such plats are processed as new plats for preliminary and final plat review and approval.
- 32. <u>Public Way.</u> Any parcel of land unobstructed from the ground to the sky, more than 10 feet in width, appropriated to the free passage of the general public.

- 33. Reserve. An area of property within a subdivision that is platted for specific uses, e.g., open space, entry monuments, landscaping, recreational facilities, utilities and drainage, floodway, private street, etc. Typically, future ownership and maintenance responsibilities for a reserve is set forth by a restrictive covenant which provides that a homeowner's or lot owner's association will hold title to the reserve and therefore be responsible for the reserve's maintenance. The restrictive covenant may provide for ownership and maintenance to be tied to the ownership of an adjacent lot. Ownership and maintenance is not assigned to an individual, partnership or corporation except in the case of a reserve platted for possible future sales to a public body for a public facility.
- 34. <u>Restrictive Covenants.</u> Contracts entered into between private parties which constitute a restriction on the use of private property within a subdivision for the benefit of property owners and to provide mutual protection against undesirable aspects of development which would tend to impair stability of values. Such restrictions may be set forth in a deed. Restrictions are also placed of record by separate instruments including homeowner association agreements. Restrictive covenants usually run with the land, and are not enforceable by a municipality.
- 35. <u>Sanitary Sewers</u>. Pipes that carry only domestic, commercial, and industrial sewage and into which storm, surface and ground waters are not intentionally admitted.
- 36. Septic Tank. An individual sewage disposal system involving a water tight receptacle that receives the discharge of sewage from a building and is designed and constructed to permit settling of solids from liquid, digestion of the organic matter (sludge), and discharge of the liquid portion into an underground lateral disposal area. The sludge is pumped out of the tanks, usually by commercial firms, at regular intervals. Septic tanks are used for domestic wastes when a sanitary sewer line is not available to carry the wastes to a wastewater treatment plant. Approval of a site for use of a septic tank system involves establishing a minimum lot area to provide for the system's operation, determining that the soil has an acceptable percolation rate and ensuring separation of the system from groundwater.
- 37. <u>Setback Line.</u> The line that is the distance that is required by the City of Haysville Zoning Regulations between a principal structure or accessory structure and the property line of the lot on which the structure is located.
- 38. <u>Sewage</u>. The total of organic waste and wastewater generated by residential, commercial and industrial establishments.
- 39. <u>Sidewalk</u>. That portion of a street or pedestrian way, paved or otherwise surfaced, intended for pedestrian use only
- 40. <u>Stormwater Detention.</u> Any storm drainage technique that retards or detains runoff, such as a detention or retention basin, parking lot storage, rooftop storage, porous pavement, dry wells or any combination of these techniques.
- 41. <u>Street.</u> The entire right-of-way width between the boundary lines of every way which provides for public use for the purpose of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, and the placement of utilities and including the term "road", "highway", "lane", "place", avenue', "alley" or other similar designation. Types of Streets include:

- a. <u>Alley.</u> A public right-of-way along the side of or in the rear of lots intended to provide a secondary means of access to and from streets and such lots. An alley is not intended for general traffic circulation.
- b. <u>Arterial Street.</u> Any street serving major traffic movements that is designed primarily as a traffic carrier between cities or between various sections of the city, which forms part of a network of through streets, and which provides service and access to abutting properties only as a secondary function.
- c. <u>Collector Street.</u> Any street designed primarily to gather traffic from local or residential streets and carry it to the arterial system.
- d. <u>Cul-de-Sac.</u> A short street with only one outlet and which is permanently terminated by a vehicular turn-around at its closed end.
- e. <u>Dead-End Street.</u> A street having only one outlet and which does not benefit from a turnaround at its closed end.
- f. <u>Freeway.</u> Any divided street or highway with complete access control and grade separated interchanges with all other public streets and highways.
- g. <u>Frontage or Marginal Access Road.</u> A local street which is parallel with and adjacent to a limited access highway or arterial street and which provides access to abutting properties and protection from through traffic on the limited access highway or arterial street.
- h. <u>Half Street</u>. A street bordering one or more property lines of a subdivision tract to which the subdivider has allocated only a portion of the ultimate and intended street width.
- i. <u>Local Street.</u> Any street designed primarily to provide access to abutting property, to include lanes, drives, circles, boulevards, or any other designation that might be given to such streets.
- j. <u>Parkway Strip.</u> That portion of street right-of-way that is not a part of the roadway driving surface and which is located between the back of the street curb, or edge of the improved roadway surface, and the street right-of-way line. The parkway strip provides unobstructed right-of-way for the installation of public utilities (typically gas and water lines), sidewalks, street signs, street lights, street furniture, street trees, emergency call boxes and other ancillary uses. The parkway strip should not be confused with parking lanes that are often provided as part of street pavement. The parkway strip is sometimes called a street's side strip.
- k. <u>Private Street.</u> A right-of-way or easement which affords principal means of vehicular access to property abutting thereon, which right-of-way or easement is owned, controlled and maintained by persons other than the public.
- 1. <u>Street Stub.</u> A short section of street right-of-way platted to provide future access to an adjacent unplatted tract of property
- 42. <u>Subdivider.</u> The owner, or any other person, firm or corporation authorized by the owner, undertaking proceedings under the provisions of these regulations for the purpose of subdividing land. (See also, Developer; Owner)

- 43. <u>Subdivision</u>. Any division or redivision of land by means of mapping, platting, conveying, changing or rearranging of boundaries, or otherwise, and shall also relate to the process of subdividing or other land subdivided where appropriate to the context.
- 44. <u>Turn Around</u>. An area at the closed end of a street with a single common point of ingress or egress (cul-de-sac) within which vehicles may reverse their direction without any backing up movements.
- 45. <u>Sight/Vision Triangle</u>. A triangular area on a lot that is located adjacent to the area where two streets intersect. The triangle has two sides measured from the center of the right-of-way, and a third side across the lot which connects the ends of the two sides. In all districts, the two lot lines establishing the sight triangle shall be a minimum distance of 60 feet. However, such standards may be increased to reflect unusual topography, sight distance, angle of street or roadway, vegetation or intensity of traffic volumes or speed. At street intersections, which are provided automatic traffic signalization, the Administrative Committee may modify or waive the sight triangle restrictions. The Zoning Administrator shall determine, upon request, the location of any sight triangle. (Code 2023)



- 46. <u>Waterway</u>. Any natural or artificial stream, river, creek, ditch, channel, canal, conduit, culvert, drain, waterway, gully, ravine or wash in which water flows in a definite direction or course, either continuously or intermittently, and has a definite channel, bed and banks, and includes any area adjacent thereto subject to inundation by reason of overflow or flood water.
- 47. Wetland. A land area that is saturated by surface water or ground water at frequencies and durations sufficient to support a prevalence of plant life typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions and as defined in Section 404, Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972 as amended, and delineated on maps prepared by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and as field verified by on-site inspection.

ARTICLE IV. PROCEDURE FOR APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISION PLATS

Section 1. Application for Subdivision Approval.

Any person desiring or required to subdivide land that is subject to the provisions of these regulations shall file with the office of the Zoning Administrator an application that states the name and address of the person making the application, identifies the location of land to be subdivided, and describes the proposed subdivision in general terms, including the approximate number of proposed lots and typical lot widths and depths. A proposed sketch plan of the subdivision may be attached to the application. The appropriate fee shall be paid upon filing the application.

Section 2. Pre-Platting Conference.

Any person desiring to subdivide land into 40 or more lots shall hold a pre-platting conference with the Zoning Administrator as a first step to filing an application for a preliminary plat. Owners of proposed subdivisions of less than 40 lots are encouraged to hold a pre-platting conference; however they may proceed with filing a preliminary plat. Arrangements for this conference shall be made by contacting the Zoning Administrator.

The purpose of this pre-platting conference is to inform the Zoning Administrator and City Staff of the possible future subdivision so that the staff may determine and inform the applicant of the effect, feasibility and compatibility of the proposal in relation to the City's utility and street system and the City's development policies and plans. The conference enables the Zoning Administrator to inform owners and their agents of the general conformance or non-conformance of the subdivision proposal with the Subdivision Regulations, additional requirements for further processing of the plan, and to advise them of applicable zoning provisions or conflicts, and special design considerations presented by particular environmental features on or affecting the site (i.e. flood plains, soil problems, high water tables, etc.), as well as the provision of adequate public facilities.

The landowner or his representative may, if he deems desirable, prepare a schematic drawing of the proposed subdivision in order to receive any pre-plat comments of the Zoning Administrator, which may prove helpful in designing the preliminary plat. The sketch plan should convey the location of the proposed development, the general layout of the proposed subdivision, including the location and size of streets and the orientation, numbers, and dimensions of the lots; plans for water supply and sewage disposal, and any particular design problems posed by the existing natural or manmade conditions and characteristics of the site which could benefit from an early discussion.

The pre-platting conference may include representatives of the City of Haysville and other persons and agencies as applicable. No verbal, written or schematically illustrated statements made during the course of the conference shall be held as legally binding. No fee shall be charged for the pre-platting conference.

Section 3. Filing of Preliminary Plat.

The subdivider shall file with the Zoning Administrator such number of copies and a digital format of the preliminary plat as the Zoning Administrator may deem necessary for proper review.

Section 4. Contents of Preliminary Plat.

The preliminary plat shall contain information and data set out in Section 3, Article V of these regulations.

Section 5. Distribution and Review of Preliminary Plat.

The Zoning Administrator, after the filing of the preliminary plat, shall make arrangements to distribute one or more copies of the preliminary plat to affected and interested governmental and public and private organizations as may be deemed appropriate for the particular proposed subdivision. Organizations receiving copies shall have 15 days to review the preliminary plat and to make their comments and recommendations to the Planning Commission. A lack of response in 15 days shall, at the discretion of the Planning Commission, signify approval, unless during this period a written request for an extension of time not to exceed 15 days is submitted to the Planning Commission.

Section 6. Action by the Planning Commission on Preliminary Plat.

The Planning Commission shall review the preliminary plat and consider the report and recommendation of the agencies, departments and persons to whom the preliminary plat has been submitted for review. The Planning Commission may also conduct a public discussion, at which time interested persons may attend and offer evidence in support of or against such preliminary plat.

- 1. The Planning Commission shall thereupon determine on the basis of all evidence before it, whether the preliminary plat generally meets the design standards and requirements of these regulations, the development plan of the City and the zoning regulations of the City, other applicable provisions of the ordinances of the City, or the applicable zoning regulations of the unincorporated area.
- 2. If the foregoing considerations are satisfied, the Planning Commission shall approve the preliminary plat.
- 3. If the Planning Commission determines that the preliminary plat does not satisfy the foregoing conditions it may suggest modifications to satisfy such conditions and in such event:
 - a. The subdivider may amend the preliminary plat to incorporate such modifications and re-submit the preliminary plat to the Planning Commission, which shall then grant its approval if such amendments satisfactorily incorporate the suggested modifications; or
 - b. If the subdivider rejects the suggested modifications or takes no action within the time allowed for Planning Commission action, the Planning Commission will disapprove the preliminary plat, and furnish the subdivider a written statement setting forth the reasons for disapproval of the preliminary plat.

- 4. If the Planning Commission determines that the preliminary plat does not satisfy the foregoing conditions, and that modifications would be too extensive or impractical, it shall disapprove the preliminary plat and immediately furnish the subdivider a statement in writing setting forth the reasons for disapproval and specifying with particularity the aspects in which the proposed preliminary plat fails to conform to the requirements of these regulations. Notification of disapproval must be provided within 60 days after the preliminary plat was filed.
- 5. The subdivider may appeal the disapproval of the preliminary plat to the Governing Body. Such appeal shall be made in writing and filed with the City Clerk within 60 days after the date the Planning Commission issues its statement setting forth its reasons for disapproval of the preliminary plat.

Section 7. Failure of Planning Commission to Act on Preliminary Plat.

If the Planning Commission fails to approve or disapprove the preliminary plat within 60 days after the date it is filed, or from the date the subdivider files the last item of required data, whichever date is later, then such preliminary plat shall be deemed to have been approved, unless the subdivider shall have consented to extend or to waive such time limitations.

Section 8. Effect of Approval of Preliminary Plat.

- 1. Approval of the preliminary plat shall signify the general acceptability of the proposed subdivision and shall be considered permission to prepare the final plat and such other items as are needed or required for submission with the final plat.
- 2. Such approval shall be effective for no more than two (2) years from the date approval was granted, unless, upon an application of the subdivider, the Planning Commission grants an extension of time beyond such period. If the final plat has not been approved and recorded as required by the provisions of this regulation within such two (2) year period, or any extensions granted thereto, the preliminary plat must be re-submitted to the Planning Commission as if no such plat had ever been approved. If there are no substantive changes from the preliminary plat which was originally approved, no additional fee shall be charged for such re-submission.

Section 9. Filing the Final Plat.

The final plat shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator's office within two (2) years after the date the preliminary plat is approved. The subdivider must provide both paper and digital copies of the final plat, such number and format to be designated by the Zoning Administrator to allow for proper review and government records.

Section 10. Action by the Planning Commission on the Final Plat.

The Planning Commission shall review and act upon the final plat within 60 days after it has been submitted for final approval. The Planning Commission shall approve the final plat if it is:

- 1. Substantially the same as the approved preliminary plat.
- 2. There has been compliance with all conditions, restrictions, and requirements of this regulation and of all other applicable ordinances of the city.
- 3. There has been compliance with any conditions that may have been attached to the approval of the preliminary plat.

The Planning Commission shall approve or disapprove the final plat within 60 days after it has been submitted for final approval. If the Planning Commission disapproves the final plat, the subdivider shall be advised in writing of the reasons for such disapproval.

Section 11. Failure of Planning Commission to Act on the Final Plat.

If the Planning Commission fails to act on the final plat within 60 days, it shall be deemed to have been approved unless the subdivider shall have consented to extend or waive such time limitations.

Section 12. Submission to the Governing Body.

Before a final plat is recorded, it shall be submitted to the Governing Body for approval and acceptance of dedications for streets and other public ways, access controls, public utility easements, and any land being dedicated or established for public use. The Developers Agreement for construction and payment of streets and utilities shall also be submitted at this time

Section 13. Action of Governing Body.

The Governing Body shall approve or disapprove the dedication of land for public purposes and the Developers Agreement within 30 days after the first meeting of the Governing Body following the date of the submission of the plat to the City Clerk. The Governing Body may defer action for an additional 30 days for the purpose of allowing for modification to comply with the requirements established by the Governing Body. If the Governing Body disapproves or defers action on the final plat, it shall advise the Planning Commission and the subdivider in writing the reason for disapproval or deferment.

Section 14. Disapproval or Deferment by the Governing Body.

In the event the Governing Body disapproves or defers action on the final plat, as referred to in Section 13, the Planning Commission shall meet with the subdivider to modify the final plat or Developers Agreement to comply with the requirements of the Governing Body.

Section 15. Failure of the Governing Body to Act on the Final Plat.

If the Governing Body fails to act on the final plat within the time period specified in Section 13 above, it shall be deemed to have been approved unless the subdivider shall have consented to extend or waive such time limitation.

Section 16. Approval of Plats and Acceptance of Dedications by the County Commission.

All Final Plats outside the corporate limits of the City shall also be submitted to the Board of County Commissioners for their review and approval and for the acceptance of dedications for public rights-of-way, access controls, utility easements, and other public uses.

Section 17. Recording of Final Plat.

The Final Plat with all required signatures and in the exact form as approved by the Governing Body and Planning Commission shall be recorded with the County Register of Deeds within 30 days after approval of the Final Plat by the Governing Body, including the developer's agreement, any required restrictive covenants and any required separate instrument(s). Approval of the Final Plat by the Planning Commission and the Governing Body shall be null and void if the plat is not acceptable for recording in the office of the Register of Deeds. The cost of recording the plat and associated instruments shall be paid by the subdivider.

Section 18. Phased Developments.

An approved Preliminary Plat may be Final Platted in pieces rather than as a whole, provided the following conditions are met:

- 1. Each Final Plat shall contain an area of sufficient size to install improvements economically. The Final Plat should, if possible, contain at least 20 lots.
- 2. Each phase must consist of one or more geographically contiguous areas.
- 3. The approval of the Planning Commission is obtained. The decision of the Planning Commission to authorize the Final Plat shall be based on the advice of the City Engineer and Public Works Director regarding the feasibility of installing required improvements.
- 4. At least one Final Plat shall be submitted for approval within each 12 months period from the date of approval of the overall Preliminary Plat. All Final Plats for the overall Preliminary Plat shall be submitted for approval within five years from the date that the overall Preliminary Plat was approved. The Planning Commission, on written request of the subdivider, may, from time to time, grant extensions of time for submitting such Final Plats. Each such extension of time shall be for no more than one year.
- 5. All steps required for the approval of a Final Plat, including the recording of the plat, shall be complied with.

Section 19. Approval of Final Plats for Small Tracts.

If a proposed plat complies with the requirements of this section, then the Planning Commission may approve a Final Plat without first approving a Preliminary Plat.

- 1. Requirements. In order to qualify for approval in the manner provided for in this section, a proposed Final Plat shall comply with the following requirements:
 - a. For single-family and two-family developments the plat shall contain no more than 20 lots or exceed 10 acres. For multi-family or nonresidential uses involving areas not previously platted, the plat shall be not more than five (5) acres and involve no more than 2 lots. For previously platted properties, for which the present plat was recorded not more than 24 months prior to the filing of the application for a replat of that subdivision or portion thereof, the proposed plat shall not exceed five (5) acres nor include more than five (5) lots.
 - b. No public street is sought to be dedicated across the property or is contemplated to be projected through (as opposed to adjacent to) the property subject to the plat.
 - c. The proposed subdivision plat shall be in the form required by Section 3 of Article V of these Regulations and shall contain all the information and certificates required as part of a Final Plat, including all supplemental information.
 - d. Submission of a filing fee.
 - e. Submission of a vicinity map drawn to scale indicating existing topography, the location of existing utilities on or adjacent to the property, the location of existing buildings on the property and the names of owners of adjacent properties including zoning of the adjacent properties. The number of copies of the vicinity map which are required to be submitted with the Final Plat shall be determined by the Zoning Administrator.

2. Procedures

- a. Final Plats submitted for approval pursuant to this section shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator and transmitted to the Planning Commission and affected and interested governmental, public and private organizations.
- b. The approval of Final Plats by the Planning Commission pursuant to this section shall be subject to the same requirements for a Final Plat except insofar as said requirements require prior approval of, or compliance with, an approved Preliminary Plat.

Section 20. Correction of Certain Platting Errors: Procedure.

If, after recording a subdivision plat, an error is found in distances, angles, bearings, subdivision or street names, block or lot numbers, the computation of dimension or elevation, or other details of the plat, except in connection with the outer boundaries of the plat, and if the property described in that part of the plat containing the error is under the ownership of the person who caused the plat to be prepared, the engineer of the approving city or county, in which the property is located, after substantiation of the existence of the error may file an affidavit with the register of deeds that the error was made. The affidavit shall describe the nature and extent of the error and the

appropriate correction. The register of deeds shall record the affidavit and shall place in the margin of the recorded plat a notation that the affidavit has been filed, the date of filing, and the book and page where it is recorded. The filing of the affidavit shall correct any such errors but shall have no effect on the validity of the plat or any property interest recorded by reference thereto.

ARTICLE V. CONTENTS OF PLANS AND PLATS

Section 1. Engineering Accuracy.

Plats shall be prepared with the following accuracy:

- 1. Preliminary plats shall be drawn to scale with such accuracy as to determine the location of a lot, block, property and boundary lines, utility and other facilities, to the nearest foot.
- 2. Final plats shall be prepared with the accuracy required for traverse data. The following sheets or drawings shall be submitted with the final plat:
 - a. Traverse data, for the plat, including the coordinates of the boundary of the subdivision with the error of closure. The error of closure for a perimeter distances less than ten thousand (10,000) feet in length, the error of closure shall be less than one (1) in ten thousand (10,000).
 - b. The computation of all distances, angles and courses that are shown on the final plat.
 - c. All stakes, monuments or other evidence found on the ground in use to determine the boundaries of the plat.

Section 2. Contents of Preliminary Plat.

The preliminary plat shall be drawn at a scale of one inch equals 100 feet. A variation in scale may be allowed where the Planning Commission determines it is necessary for a proper exhibit of the subdivision. The following general information shall be shown on the preliminary plat:

- 1. The proposed name of the subdivision. This name shall not duplicate or resemble the name of any existing subdivision within the area subject to these regulations.
- 2. Date of preparation, north point, and scale of drawing.
- 3. An identification clearly stating that the map is a preliminary plat.
- 4. Location of the subdivision by measured distance to a section corner to define the location and boundaries of the tract that will be subdivided.
- 5. Names of adjacent subdivisions or, in the case of unplatted land, the name of the owner or owners of adjacent property.
- 6. The name and address of the owner, the subdivider, and the registered land surveyor or engineer who prepared the plat.
- 7. The following existing conditions shall be shown on the preliminary plat:
 - a. The location, width and names of all existing public or private streets within or adjacent to the tract, together with easements, railroad rights-of-way and other important features such as section lines and corners, city boundary lines and monuments.

- b. Contour lines or spot elevations based on North American Vertical Datum 1988 (NAVD88) having the following intervals:
 - i. Two-foot contour intervals for ground slopes less than 10 percent
 - ii. Five-foot contour intervals for ground slopes exceeding 10 percent
 - iii. Spot elevations where the ground is too flat for contours.
 - 1. The date of the topographic surveys shall be shown.
- c. The location and direction of all watercourses and areas subject to flooding, including floodway and flood fringe areas, and base flood elevations, where required by Section 2 of Article VI.
- d. Natural features such as rock outcroppings, marshes, lakes, wooded areas, and isolated preservable trees.
- e. Existing use of the property including the location of all existing structures showing the location of those that will be removed and those that will remain on the property after the final plat is recorded.
- f. The horizontal location, within the subdivision and in the adjoining streets and property, of existing sanitary and storm water sewers including flow lines, water mains, culverts, drain pipes, underground wiring, and gas lines proposed to serve the property to be subdivided.
- g. Zoning on and adjacent to the tract, if any.
- h. Location, elevation and description of the benchmark controlling the vertical survey.
- 8. The following information with respect to the manner in which the tract is to be subdivided and developed shall be included on the preliminary plat:
 - a. Streets and sidewalks, showing the location, width and names and approximate grades thereof. The preliminary plat shall show the relationship of all streets and sidewalks to any projected streets and sidewalks shown or to any related Master Plan adopted by the Planning Commission, or Governing Body; or if no such Master Plan has been completed, then as suggested by the Planning Commission.
 - b. Easements showing width and purpose.
 - c. Lots showing approximate dimensions, minimum lot sizes, and proposed lot and block numbers.
 - d. Sites, if any, to be allocated for development with other than single-family dwellings.
 - e. Sites, if any, to be dedicated or reserved for park, playground or other public purposes.
 - f. Proposed building setback lines, if any, but not less than current applicable zoning regulations.
 - g. Location and type of utilities to be installed including provision for stormwater drainage.

- h. Street names which do not duplicate any heretofore used in the City or its environs, unless the street is an extension of or in line with an already named street, in which event that name shall be used. Appropriate prefixes and suffixes which provide relative direction and type of street should accompany such names. Street names shall be subject to the approval of the Planning Commission and follow the applicable City's or County's Street Naming and Property Numbering Policy, if adopted. Property numbers are assigned by the City or County depending upon the agreed upon jurisdictional policy.
- 9. Additional data and information to be submitted with the preliminary plat. The following data and information shall be submitted in separate statements and/or maps accompanying the preliminary plat, or, if practical, such data and information may be shown on the preliminary plat:
 - a. A vicinity map showing existing subdivision, streets and unsubdivided tracts adjacent to the proposed subdivision and showing the manner in which the proposed streets may be extended to connect with existing streets. Such vicinity map shall also include a location map that identifies the area of the municipality in which the tract to be subdivided is to be located.
 - b. A copy of any existing or proposed deed restrictions or covenants that affect the property, in outline form.
 - c. A statement as to the general nature and type of improvements proposed for the subdivision, and in what manner the subdivider intends to finance and provide for their installation, e.g., petition, actual construction, fiscal guarantee, etc. If other than by petition, the approximate time that such improvements will be completed should be indicated. If by petition, the statement shall contain sufficient detail with respect to the proposed improvements to permit a determination to be made with respect to whether such improvements will comply with this regulation and other applicable statutes, ordinances and regulations. If the nature of the improvement is such that it is not practical to prepare and submit all necessary details prior to the approval of the preliminary plat, then the Planning Commission may waive the submission of such details provided that the additional data is submitted at least 30 days prior to the date that approval of the final plat is requested.
 - d. A drainage concept showing the means by which storm waters shall be accepted from adjacent properties, handled internally and drained from the tract, to include an analysis of adjacent properties.
 - e. A traffic impact study may be required at the discretion of the Zoning Administrator or the Planning Commission.

Section 3. Contents of Final Plat.

The final plat shall be prepared by a registered land surveyor and drawn in waterproof black on Mylar or its equivalent. Alternatively, a final plat may be prepared with a photographic process provided it is submitted on .004 inch polyester photographic film such as Mylar or its equivalent. The page or sheet size shall be 24 by 36 inches or smaller. Larger sizes will not be accepted. The scale shall be 100 feet to one inch. A variation in scale may be allowed where the Planning

Commission determines it is necessary for a proper exhibit of the subdivision. When more than one sheet is used for any plat, each such sheet shall be numbered consecutively and each such sheet shall contain a notion showing the whole number of sheets in the plat and its relation to other sheets (e.g., 1 of 3 sheets.) Linear dimensions shall be given in feet and decimal of a foot. The following information shall be shown on the final plat:

- 1. The name of the subdivision.
- 2. The date of preparation, scale, north point, legend and controlling topography; and physical features such as water courses, highways and railroads.
- 3. A legal description of the tract boundary.
- 4. The name of the owners and the registered land surveyor.
- 5. Reference points of existing surveys identified, related to the plat by distances, angles and bearings.
 - a. Section corners and/or adjoining corners of all adjoining subdivisions, or corners of existing plats, when a replat.
 - b. Section, township and range.
 - c. When the city or county has established the centerline of the street adjacent or within the proposed subdivision, the location of such centerline and monuments found or reset shall be shown.
 - d. All other monuments required to be installed by the provisions of these regulations.
- 6. Tract boundary, block boundary, street and other right-of-way lines with distances and angles and/or bearings. Where these lines follow a curve (all curves must be circular). The central angle, the radius, points of curvature, length of curve and length of intermediate tangents shall be shown.
- 7. Lot lines with dimensions. Side lot lines shall be at right angles or radial to street lines unless otherwise shown. Rear lot lines shall be parallel to block of tract lines unless otherwise indicated. Points of deflection of rear lot lines shall be indicated by angles and distances.
- 8. The width of the portion of the streets being dedicated and the width of any existing right-of-way. The centerline of streets which are adjacent to the perimeter of the subdivision shall be indicated.
- 9. All easements shall be denoted by fine dash lines, clearly identified as to purpose, and if already on record, the recorded reference of such easements. If an easement is not definitely located of record a statement of such easement shall be included. The width of the easements, with sufficient ties to locate it definitely with respect to the subdivision must be shown. If the easement is being dedicated by the map, it shall be properly referenced in the owner's certificate of identification. Rear easements shall be labeled as drainage and utility easements when necessary.
- 10. Lot numbers beginning with the number one, and numbered consecutively in each block. The numbers shall be solid and of sufficient size and thickness to stand out, and so placed as not to obliterate any figure.

- 11. Block letters continuing consecutively without omission or duplication throughout the subdivision. The letters shall be solid, of sufficient size and thickness to stand out, and so placed as not to obliterate any figure.
- 12. Land parcels to be dedicated for any purpose, public or private, to be distinguished from lots or tracts intended for sale. If the plat proposes the creation of reserves, the text shall state the purposes of the reserve, as well as, who will own and be responsible for the maintenance of reserves. Future ownership and maintenance responsibilities for a reserve may also be documented by a restrictive covenant filed with the register of deeds that provides that a homeowners association, or similar entity, will hold title to the reserve and therefore be responsible for the reserve's maintenance.
- 13. Building setback lines, if any.
- 14. The name of each street shown on the subdivision plat or adjacent to its perimeter.
- 15. The location and elevation of permanent on-site and off-site benchmarks if the plat is establishing minimum building pad or lowest floor elevations. When the establishment of minimum building pad or lowest floor elevations are required, the required elevations shall be referenced in NAVD88 on the face of the plat. The platting of the minimum building pad or lowest floor elevations shall also be noted in the plattor's text.
- 16. If street rights-of-way, building setbacks, access controls, minimum building pad elevations, public easement or other public reservations are being vacated by the plat, proper reference to K.S.A. 12-512b, amended, shall be made in the plattor's text.
- 17. The following certificates, which may be combined where appropriate:
- 18. All names required on plat certificates must be typed or clearly printed below the signature. A certificate signed and acknowledged by all parties having any record, title, or interest in the land subdivided, and consenting to the preparation and recording of the said subdivision map.
 - a. A certificate signed and acknowledged as above, dedicating all parcels of land shown on the final plat and intended for any public use except those parcels which are intended for the exclusive use of the lot owners of the subdivision, their licensees, visitors, tenants and servants. If the subdivision abuts or is within 100 feet of any FEMA-regulated floodplain or regulatory floodway, the dedicating certificate shall also recite that, "FEMA floodplain and regulatory floodway boundaries are subject to periodic change, and such change may affect the intended land use within the subdivision."
 - b. A certificate signed by the registered land surveyor responsible for the survey and final map. The land surveyor shall not sign the plat until all monuments, irons, or benchmarks required by these regulations, have been set. The signature of the surveyor shall be accompanied by his seal and shall state the month and year the survey was made.
 - c. The acknowledgment of a notary in either of the following forms:

	i.	For acknowledgement in a	an individual capacity:	
		State of Kansas, County	of Sedgwick, SS:	
		This instrument was ack person(s).	enowledged before me on (dat	e) by name(s) of
		Seal or stamp _	(Signature of Notarial Officer)	_, Notary Public
		My commission expires:		
	ii.	For an acknowledgement	in a representative capacity:	
	State of Kansas, County of Sedgwick, SS			
	This instrument was acknowledged before me on (date) by name(s) of person(s) as (type of authority, e.g., officer, trustee, president, etc.) of (name of party on behalf of whom instrument was executed) on behalf of (company, partnership, trust, etc.)			
	Seal or stamp, Notary Public, Notary Public,			
	My commission expires:			
d.	The ce	rtificate of the Planning Co	ommission in the following for	n:
	This plat was approved by the Haysville City Planning Commission on , 20 .			
		Da	ated Signed:	, 20
		На	aysville Planning Commission	
				, Chairperson
			yped Name)	
		AT	TTEST:	
			yped Name)	_, Secretary
		(1)	yped Name)	
	-		y as required for additions to or s. seq in the following form.	within the City of
	This p	plat is approved pursuant to	the provisions of K.S.A. 12-4	01.
		Da	ate Signed:	, 20
		(Ty	yped Name)	City Attorney

f.	The approval and acceptance following form:	of dedications by the Governing Body in the
		cations shown hereon, if any, are accepted by the sas, this day of, 20
		(Typed Name), Mayor
	(SEAL)	
		ATTEST:
		, City Clerk (Typed Name)
g.	The acceptance of dedications by County for plats outside of the ci	the Board of County Commissioners of Sedgwick ity limits in the following form:
		n, if any, are accepted by the Board of County ounty, Kansas, on, 20
		(Typed Name), Chairman
	(SEAL)	
		ATTEST:
		(Typed Name), County Clerk
h.		n the transfer record in the following form:
	Entered on transfer record this	day of,
		Typed Name), County Clerk

i. The certificate of the Register of Deeds in the following form:

State of Kansas, County of Sedge	wick, SS
This is to certify that this instrumed Office on theday of recorded.	ent was filed for record in the Register of Deeds,, at o'clock and is duly
	, Register of Deeds (Typed Name)
	(Typed Name), Deputy

- j. Provision for all other certifications, approvals and acceptances that are now, or that may hereafter be, required by any statute, ordinance or regulation.
- k. The form of certificates may be modified as necessary with the approval of the Planning Commission and the City Attorney to meet Kansas State requirements.
- 1. Subdivisions which lie outside the City limits for which requests have been made for the extension of one or more City utility services shall agree to a waiver of protest of potential future annexation by a statement reading, "Owners of lands within this subdivision do hereby bind themselves to waive any protest to annexation by the City of Haysville", which shall be shown on the final plat, and shall be restated by a restrictive covenant.
- 19. Supplemental information to be submitted with final plat. The following additional data shall be submitted with the final plat.
 - a. A title report by an abstract or title insurance company, or an attorney's opinion of title, showing the name of the owner of the land and all other persons who have an interest in, or any encumbrance on the plat. The consent of all such persons shall be on the plat.
 - b. A certificate showing that all taxes due and payable have been paid in full, or if such taxes have been protested as provided by law, monies or other sufficient escrows guaranteeing such payment of taxes in the event the protest is not upheld, may be placed on deposit with such officials or governing bodies to meet this requirement.
 - c. A copy of any deed restrictions or covenants applicable to the subdivision.
 - d. A developer's agreement to be approved, accepted and recorded.
 - e. A drainage plan shall be submitted to the appropriate engineer prior to, or at the time of, submitting the final plat for approval, to include analysis of surrounding properties.

The Subdivision plat shall clearly state that a drainage plan has been developed for the subdivision and that all drainage easements, rights-of-way, or reserves shall remain at the established grades or as modified with the approval of the applicable City or County Engineer, and unobstructed to allow for the conveyance of storm water.

ARTICLE VI. DESIGN STANDARDS

Section 1. Principles of Acceptability.

All subdivision of land subject to these regulations shall conform to the minimum design standards of this article and the requirements of State law. Furthermore, all subdivisions outside the City shall conform to the zoning, stormwater, sanitary sewer, road, and other applicable standards of the County and the road construction standards of the applicable Township. All public improvements shall be designed and installed in accordance with design policies, criteria and specifications established by the City Engineer.

Section 2. Land Subject to Flood.

- 1. Whenever a subdivision of land, including platting for manufactured home parks and other developments on one-lot plats, is located on flood-prone land identified on a Flood Insurance Rate Map(s) (F.I.R.M.) prepared by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the following requirements shall apply: (See Ordinance 1104 for Model Floodplain Management.)
 - a. Show on the preliminary and final plats the boundary lines and elevations for both floodway, if any, and base flood (100-year flood level); and
 - b. Assure that (a) all such subdivisions are consistent with the need to minimize flood damage, (b) all public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, water, gas and electrical systems are located, elevated and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage, and (c) adequate drainage is provided so as to reduce exposure to flood hazards.
- 2. All plats should be designated in North American Vertical Datum 1988 (NAVD88) and City Datum to conform to the National Flood Insurance Program Studies.
- 3. Where a subdivision is traversed by a watercourse such as a drainage way, channel or stream, there shall be provided a drainage reserve conforming substantially to the lines of the watercourse and such further width as will be adequate for the purpose. Streets or parkways parallel to major watercourses may be required. Watercourses will be concreted or vegetated with adapted perennial grasses or otherwise stabilized to prevent soil erosion and sediment movement by wind or water. Drainage reserves shall be the responsibility of the individual lot owner or subdivider homeowners association until such time as the applicable Governing Body exercising jurisdiction elects to assume the responsibility for maintenance and improvement of the drainage within said floodway or reserve provided further, that no building shall be constructed on or within said reserve nor shall any fill, change of grade, creation of channel or other work be carried on without the permission of the applicable Governing Body exercising jurisdiction and applicable state agencies. The plat shall clearly indicate ownership and maintenance responsibilities.

Section 3. Access.

- 1. All lots located in any subdivision shall be served directly by a public street, except that private streets may be permitted as a part of a plat approved by the governing body. Private streets may be permitted to serve an unplatted tract, parcel or platted lot if there is an irrevocable covenant of record to provide for the perpetual ownership, continuance, and maintenance of the private street. The covenant must be approved by the governing body whose engineer approves streets.
- 2. Compliance with access control methods consistent with published KDOT standards shall be required for any subdivision or plat located adjacent to South Broadway (US-81).
- 3. All lots located in any subdivision must contain at least 30 feet of frontage for driveways directly connected to an opened public street and not across the land of others. Flag lots are not permitted, unless warranted by an unusual shape of the land or the ownership of property.
- 4. All street, alley, and driveway access connections made to arterial streets must be limited and approved by the City Engineer.

Section 4. Parks, Playgrounds, Open Space, Schools, Streets and Public Facility Sites.

Proposed subdivision land should provide open spaces suitably located and of reasonable size for parks, playgrounds, play lots, and other recreational areas as well as reservation of land for school sites, fire station sites, other public facilities, and future streets (such as freeways or expressways).

- 1. Land for Public Facility Sites. Public agencies using the Comprehensive Plan as a guide may use the following procedure for acquiring sites for public facilities which does not preclude voluntary dedication and mutual negotiations for land or the use of the condemnation laws of the State:
 - a. The subdivider offers to sell to the appropriate public body, agency or authority, lands, sites, and locations for parks, recreational areas, schools, fire stations or other public facilities. As soon as the preliminary plat has been received and reviewed, the Planning Commission shall give 45 days' notice to the public body, agency or authority that it appears that lands should be considered for public acquisition. If within that 45 days the body receiving notice fails to act or submits a negative report on acquisition, then the subdivision and design thereof shall be treated as if no such request for land had been made.
 - b. If the body receiving notice replies in writing that they desire to acquire land within the subdivision, they shall have an additional 45 days after making such reply to make arrangements for such land acquisition.
 - c. The time allocated for making the above determination may be extended with the mutual consent of the subdivider and the agency involved.
- 2. Land for Open Space. The following conditions may be required as part of the approval of any subdivision plat:

- a. That said subdivider shall dedicate to the appropriate public body, agency, or authority, an area of land not to exceed 10 percent of the tract being subdivided, for parks, playgrounds, open space, or other public facilities.
- b. The subdivider may make payment to the city in lieu of dedicating 10 percent of the subdivided land, providing this payment is equal in value to the estimated acreage value of 10 percent of the total subdivision. Determination of the land value for making in lieu of payments will require an appraisal to be presented to the Planning Commission for their concurrence. The fund that accumulates from payments in lieu of dedication shall be expended by the Governing Body for the acquisition of public land in accordance with the City's Master Plan related to open space or public facilities. The method of payments in lieu of dedication of land shall be established prior to final approval of the plat. The need for public open space is related to population density, an area of higher density requires a greater percentage of land for uses such as parks and other public facilities. Therefore, the decision reached by the Planning Commission regarding whether to accept an in lieu of payment should be based in large part on the number of lots (proposed dwelling units) being proposed in the subdivision. Adequate provisions should be made to allow for public open space displaced throughout residential areas of the city.
- c. The subdivider may choose to include private parks, playgrounds, and/or open space as a part of the residential subdivision. These regulations do not include any minimum requirements regarding acreage or level of improvement for such facilities. However, in order to help meet the recreation needs of the future residents, subdividers are encouraged to provide such private facilities in their developments, or alternatively, to enter into partnership agreements with the applicable governing body, with the costs of providing land and making improvements to public parks, playgrounds and/or open space within the subdivision being shared equitably between the subdivider and the governing body.

Section 5. Land Subject to Excessive Erosion by Wind or Water.

On land subject to excessive soil movement by the forces of wind and/or water that may cause environmental health hazards, necessary preventive measures shall be a part of the subdivision plat. Conservation standards adopted by the County Conservation District shall be adhered to.

Section 6. Specific Standards. Streets Layout and Design.

- 1. The arrangement, character or type, extent, and location of all streets shall conform to the Master Plan and shall be considered in their relation to existing and planned streets, topographical conditions, to public convenience and safety, and their appropriate relation to the proposed uses of the land to be served by such streets.
 - Where such is not shown on the Master Plan, the arrangement of streets in a subdivision shall meet the following criteria or standards:

- a. Provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of existing principal streets in surrounding areas; or,
- b. Conform to a plan for the neighborhood approved or adopted by the Planning Commission to meet a particular situation where topographic or other conditions make continuance or conformance to existing streets impracticable.
- 2. Local streets shall be laid out so that their use by through traffic will be discouraged.
- 3. If a subdivision abuts or contains an existing or proposed limited access highway or arterial street, the Planning Commission may require marginal access streets, reverse frontage lots with access control provisions along the rear property line, deep lots with rear service alleys such other treatment as may be necessary for adequate protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic shall be provided.
- 4. If a subdivision borders on, or contains a railroad right-of-way or a limited access highway, the Planning Commission may require a street approximately parallel to and on each side of such right-of-way at a distance suitable for the appropriate use of the intervening land. Such distances shall also be determined with due regard for the requirements of approach grades and future grade separations.
- 5. Reserve strips controlling access to streets shall be prohibited except where their control is placed with the applicable Governing Body under conditions approved by the Planning Commission.
- 6. Street jogs on arterial and collector streets must conform to the requirements of the Kansas Department of Transportation (KDOT) Access Management Policy. On local streets with a right-of-way of 64 feet or less, centerline offsets of less than 150 feet shall be avoided.
- 7. When a proposed subdivision is adjacent to unplatted property, the platting of stub streets, to provide future access to the adjacent unplatted tract, shall be provided. If the adjacent unplatted tract is planned for development of a use not compatible with the property being subdivided, the requirement for stub street dedications may be waived. If the length of the stub street is greater than 150 feet, a temporary turnaround shall be platted or established by separate instrument. If platted, the plattor's text shall indicate that the turnaround will be automatically vacated upon extension of the street.
- 8. Streets shall be laid out so as to intersect as nearly as possible at right angles, and no street shall intersect any other street at less than 80 degrees.
- 9. Street right-of-way requirements for other than arterials shall be determined by the total aggregate needs for the functional components for the particular system being considered. The total aggregates shall be in increments of even feet, even numbers only. The components involved shall be as follows depending upon the urban or rural type of characteristics of the street needed based on land use, traffic and density:
 - a. Moving or traffic lanes may be variable from 9 to 12 feet depending on function, e.g., low density residential, cul-de-sac residential, collector, industrial, etc., and on design speed of the roadway. A moving lane may utilize a portion of the surface of certain types of curb construction.

- b. Parking lanes for on-street storage of vehicles shall be at least 8 feet in width. For computation purposes, up to two feet for curb or shoulder may be included as part of the parking lane.
- c. Curbs shall be considered to require 2.5 feet irrespective of construction type.
- d. Shoulders for rural type roadways shall be not less than 3 feet in width.
- e. Parking strips for streets shall be at least 14 ½ feet in width from the back of curb to the right-of-way line. This area shall be used for the installation of utilities, street signs, street lights, traffic control devices, fire hydrants, sidewalks, driveways, street furniture, street trees from an approved City list and to provide a transition area in grades, if necessary, between the roadway and the property adjacent to the right-of-way. Ditches and border strips for rural type roads shall be variable in width based on drainage, utility installations and other needs.
- f. Based on the above general criteria, street right-of-way and roadways shall be calculated from the following guidelines:

URBAN AREA	Street Right-of-Way	Roadway Width*
Section Line Roads, US Highways, and Arterials	120 feet, except that 150 feet of the right-of- way shall be required within 350 feet from the intersection of a section line or centerline with any other street.	48 feet and up Or per County Engineer for areas located outside the City Limits.
Major Local Arterial	120 feet except that 150 feet of the right-of-way shall be required within 350 feet from the intersection of the centerline of an arterial street with any other street.	48 feet and up
Minor Local Arterial	100 feet except that 150 feet of the right-of-way shall be required within 350 feet from the intersection of the centerline of an arterial street with any other street.	48 feet and up
Collector	80 feet	35 feet

border area		
Collector, or industrial or Commercial – two moving lanes (17.5) plus shoulder, ditches and	80 feet	47 feet including shoulder
	•	,
RURAL AREA	Street Right-of-Way	Roadway Width*
Sidewalks	N/A	6 feet
Alley (if required)	25 feet	25 feet
Local, for business commercial and industrial areas	64 feet	35 feet
Local Residential: Street to be no more than 1 block in length with a maximum of 24 single-family lots (12 each side). Cul-de-sacs no longer than 300 feet to the center of the turnaround radius. A covenant providing for 4 off-street parking spaces per dwelling unit on each lot shall be submitted	50 feet	21 feet
Local, Residential: Street to be no more than 3 blocks in length with a maximum of 24 single-family lots (12 each side) per block and a covenant providing for 4 off-street parking spaces per dwelling unit on each lot	58 feet	29 feet
Local, Residential: Single, two, three and four-family dwellings on continuous street more than 3 blocks in length.	64 feet	35 feet

* Face to Face Curb

NOTE: These widths may be modified by the Planning Commission on a showing that special conditions exist such as drainage and utility requirements, safe and efficient traffic and pedestrian movement, intersection design, etc. In applying these standards, workable street systems must be established. When a pattern of widths based on function for a given area has been established, the pattern shall be followed until another system can be established or ties into a collector or arterial system. Access control and acceleration and deceleration lanes may be required to properly handle traffic flow and to protect the carrying capacity of the street.

- 10. For streets and roadways on the Functional Classification System of the County, prevailing design standards shall apply.
- 11. Dead-end streets, designed to be so permanently, shall not be longer than seven times the average lot width or 500 feet, whichever is less, and shall have a turnaround at the closed end that has an outside roadway diameter of at least 80 feet and a street property line diameter of at least 110 feet. In the unincorporated areas of jurisdiction the turnaround at the closed end of a street shall have an outside roadway diameter of at least 75 feet and a street property line diameter of at least 150 feet (as per standards set forth by the County Engineer.)
- 12. Roadway grades, wherever feasible, shall not exceed the following with due allowance for reasonable vertical curves:

Roadway Type	Percent Grade
Arterial	3%
Collector	4%
Local	5%
Marginal Access	5%

No roadway grade shall be less than 0.4 percent unless approved by the appropriate engineer. Greater percentages of grade may be required where necessary to provide adequate drainage.

13. Half-streets shall be avoided, except for arterial streets and collector streets where applicable, or where they are essential to the reasonable development of the subdivision in conformity with the other requirements of these regulations; or, when the Planning Commission finds that it will be practicable to require the dedication of the other half of the street when the adjoining property is subdivided. Whenever a half-street, or portion thereof, exists and is adjacent to a tract to be subdivided, the other half of the street shall be platted within such tract. No construction of the roadway shall occur until the full right-of-way is provided.

Section 7. Alleys.

1. Alleys shall be provided in commercial and industrial districts, except that the Planning Commission may waive this requirement where other definite and assured provision is made for service access, such as off-street loading, unloading, and parking spaces

- consistent and adequate for the uses proposed. Alleys in residential districts are to be discouraged.
- 2. When provided, the width of an alley should be 25 feet.
- 3. Alley intersections and sharp changes in alignment shall be avoided, but where necessary, a turning radius shall be provided to permit safe vehicular movement.
- 4. Dead-end alleys shall be avoided where possible, but if unavoidable, such alleys shall be provided with adequate turnaround facilities at the dead-end.

Section 8. Blocks.

- 1. The lengths, widths and shapes of blocks shall be determined with due regard to:
 - a. Provision of adequate building sites suitable for the special needs of the type of use contemplated.
 - b. Zoning requirements as to lot sizes and dimensions, off-street parking and loading, etc.
 - c. Need for convenient access, circulation, control and safety of street traffic.
 - d. Limitations and opportunities of topography.
- 2. A block should not exceed 1,200 feet in length, unless such block is adjacent to a limited access highway or arterial street or unless the previous adjacent layout or topographical conditions justify a variation of this requirement.
- 3. All blocks should be so designed so as to provide two tiers of lots, unless a different arrangement is required by other physical limitation such as railroads, streams, etc.
- 4. Blocks may be irregular in shape, provided they are harmonious with the overall pattern of blocks in the proposed subdivision, and provided their design meets the requirements of lot standards, traffic flow and control considerations, and development plan requirements.
- 5. In blocks of 800 feet or more in length, a pedestrian access easement for pedestrian travel may be required to provide access to public or private facilities such as schools or parks. The pedestrian access easement shall have a right-of-way not less than 10 feet, and extend entirely across such block at approximately the mid-point of the length of such block. A sidewalk shall be placed along the length of such right-of-way and constructed in accordance with the requirements for sidewalk improvements.

Section 9. Lots.

- 1. The lot size, width, depth, shape, and orientation shall be appropriate for the location of the subdivision and for the type of development and use contemplated.
- 2. The maximum depth of all residential lots shall not exceed two and one-half times the width thereof. For all other lots, the depth shall not exceed three times the width.
- 3. The minimum widths of residential lots measured as that required by zoning regulations.

- 4. Where lots front upon a cul-de-sac or curved street having a radius of 200 feet or less, the minimum lot widths set forth in Subparagraph (3) above, shall be measured at the building setback line along an arc parallel to the right-of-way of such cul-de-sac or curved street. Such lots shall also be laid out so that their lot frontages, as measured on the arc of such right-of-way line, is not less than 50 percent of the required lot width measured at the building setback line.
- 5. The area of the street right-of-way shall not be included and calculated in the area of the lot with respect to minimum lot area requirements of these regulations or of any zoning ordinance applicable to the property. Lots shall be required to have more than the minimum area dimensions provided for in this section where such greater area or dimensions are required to meet the yard requirements of the zoning ordinance.
- 6. There shall be no double frontage lots for individual dwellings (e.g., single and two family units); except where the lots abut upon a limited access highway or arterial street or where the topography of the land prevents reasonable subdivision in small units. Double frontage lots shall not have vehicular access between such lots and an abutting limited access highway or arterial street.
- 7. The depth and width of properties reserved or laid out for commercial and industrial purposes shall be adequate to provide for the off-street service and parking facilities required by the type of use and development contemplated.
- 8. Corner lots for residential use shall have extra width to permit appropriate building setback from the side street.
- 9. For lots adjacent to or near local platted floodways, or in areas of inadequate drainage, the platting of a minimum building opening elevation shall be required. For lots in the mapped floodplain, the platting of the lowest floor shall be required. The minimum building opening elevation shall be expressed in NAVD88. The elevation requirement shall be indicated on the face of the plat as well as referenced in the plattor's text.
- 10. Lots located at an arterial street intersection or at an intersection with an acute angle, which in the opinion of the Planning Commission is likely to be dangerous to traffic movement, shall have a radius of 50 feet at the intersection of street rights-of-way.
- 11. For lots adjacent to railroad tracks, "complete access control" shall be dedicated across the lot's street frontage for a minimum distance of 150 feet from the centerline of the nearest railroad track.
- 12. Access issues including driveway distance from intersections, spacing standards for driveways along section line roads, median length at intersections, traffic impact studies, and cross lot access shall be in accordance with the requirements of the Sedgwick County Access Management Policy and approved by the Planning Commission.
- 13. For lots located adjacent to an arterial street, access control shall be dedicated across the lot's frontage to the arterial street. The number of permitted access points shall be determined by the Planning Commission based upon the recommendations of the engineer having jurisdiction and the Zoning Administrator. Staff recommendations on the number of permitted access points and distance between access points, shall be a function of the amount of lot frontage, the arterial street operating speed, and the traffic carrying capacity of street improvements. For commercial or industrial subdivisions along arterial streets,

subdividers are encouraged to establish shared access points to the arterial street and provide access easements between lots to reduce the number and frequency of driveways onto the major street. Based upon the recommendations of the engineer having jurisdiction and, Zoning Administrator, the Planning Commission may require the platting of access controls that establish:

- a. Joint access points along common property lines; or
- b. A cross-lot access agreement provided by the subject plat to the benefit of the adjoining property, whereby the adjoining property would subsequently, upon platting, be required to dedicate complete access control. In both above instances, a Cross-Lot Circulation Agreement would be required to ensure internal access among the lots.

Section 10. Easements.

Easements shall be provided for utilities and drainage, where necessary, and centered on rear or side lot lines and shall be at least 20 feet wide along rear lot lines and 10 feet wide along side lot lines, except that easements for street lighting purposes shall not in any event be required to exceed 10 feet. If a subdivision is traversed by a water course, drainage way, channel or stream, then storm water easement or drainage right-of-way shall be provided. Such easement or right-of-way shall conform substantially to the lines of such water course and shall be of such width or construction or both, as may be necessary to provide adequate storm water drainage and for access for maintenance thereof. Parallel streets or parkways may be required in connection herewith. Pedestrian access easements may be required on plats when an access easement is needed to provide a connecting link to public or private parks or school site.

Section 11. Business, Commercial and Industrial Subdivisions.

- 1. Streets. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this regulation, the minimum width of streets adjacent to areas designed, proposed or zoned for business-commercial or industrial use may be increased by the Planning Commission to such extent as they may deem necessary to assure the free flow of through traffic without interference from parked or parking motor vehicles.
- 2. Blocks Blocks intended for business, commercial or industrial use shall be designed specifically for such purpose, with adequate space set aside for off-street parking and loading.
- 3. Frontage Road. When lots or blocks in a proposed business, commercial or industrial subdivision front on any limited access highway or arterial street the subdivider may be required to dedicate and improve a marginal access street to provide ingress and egress to and from such lots or blocks.
- 4. Sidewalks. When lots in a proposed business, commercial or industrial subdivision front on any highway or arterial street, the subdivider shall be required to dedicate and improve sidewalks in accordance with the City's design standards. Sidewalks shall run parallel to such highway or street. The responsibility of maintenance for sidewalks shall be provided either in the plattor's text or by separate instrument.

Section 12. Planned Unit Developments.

A comprehensive group development including, the townhouses, garden apartment complexes and condominiums together with necessary drives and ways of access may be approved by the Planning Commission although the design of the project does not include standard streets, lot and subdivision arrangements; provided that departure from the standards of the regulations can be made without destroying their intent.

Condominium plats shall conform to the following:

- 1. The plat must be in three-dimensions relating vertical control to NAVD88.
- 2. A bench mark must be set on or near the building site at ground level for future reference in locating units in the plat.
- 3. Each floor plan of the permanent structure must be shown, as well as basement and roof levels and area of plot plan. The dimensions and ties shown for each parcel must be definite enough with respect to both vertical and horizontal control so that the boundaries of each apartment may be accurately located by the use of standard survey methods.
- 4. All unit or apartment property lines shall be the interior surfaces of the perimeter walls, ceiling, windows and doors thereof.
- 5. A condominium plat must contain all of the certifications and approvals required for any plat. There must also be an approval by the official authorized to issue building, zoning or occupancy permits indicating that the building plan has been approved by his office and certification by the architect that the plat is in agreement with the building plan. If not within the city, a copy shall be submitted to the County Engineer and the Township Trustee of the Township in which located.

Section 13. Drainage

- 1. Drainage concepts and drainage plans, as required by Article 5 of these regulations, shall be submitted to the engineer having jurisdiction. Plans for the mitigation of stormwater pollution may also be required by the engineer.
- 2. If the drainage plan for a multiple-family, commercial or industrial subdivision calls for the passage of stormwater runoff from one proposed lot onto another proposed lot, the subdivider shall submit a cross-lot drainage agreement for recording with the plat. The cross-lot drainage agreement shall clearly state which lots within the proposed subdivision are to accept storm waters from other lots within the subdivision.
- 3. If the drainage plan for a subdivision calls for the passage of storm water runoff from the proposed subdivision onto property that is outside the perimeter of the plat, the platting engineer and/or surveyor shall work with the engineer having jurisdiction. Based upon a determination by the engineer having jurisdiction, the subdivider may be required to provide for on-site detention of storm waters and/or acquire an off-site drainage easement or agreement. Any off-site drainage easement or agreement shall clearly state that the proposed subdivision may continue to drain onto the property that is beyond the subdivision's perimeter.

- 4. If the drainage plan for a subdivision calls for the proposed subdivision to accept drainage from property that is outside the perimeter of the proposed subdivision, the subdivider shall provide either specific drainage easements to handle the passage of stormwater onto the plat or, by separate instrument, establish a drainage agreement or covenant with the owner of adjacent properties. The drainage agreement or covenant shall clearly state that the proposed subdivision will continue to accept drainage from the affected adjacent properties. The choice between whether a specific drainage easement or a drainage agreement/covenant is needed shall be at the discretion of the engineer having jurisdiction.
- 5. When a subdivider proposes the dedication of right-of-way for drainage purposes, the subdivider shall also guarantee the construction of an improved channel or swale within the dedication, if necessary. The design of the channel or swale shall be approved by the engineer having jurisdiction.
- 6. A detailed drainage plan shall be submitted for urban-scale, multi-lot subdivisions and shall specify existing contour lines, finish grade elevations at all corners, and if the lot is crowned to drain two or more directions, the direction of stormwater flow by arrows. For lots in the federal flood management areas, the required building pad elevations will be the lowest floor level, and for lots in the local flood area, it will be the elevation of the lowest opening. The detailed drainage plan shall be marked "approved by the applicable Engineer."

The submitting of the detailed drainage plan does not have to occur prior to the review of the final plat by the Planning Commission. The detailed plan shall, however, be on file in both the appropriate engineer's office and the office of the appropriate building permit issuing official prior to the release of the plat for recording. Modifications may be made to the plan by the appropriate engineer after the plat has been approved.

ARTICLE VII. INSTALLATION OF REQUIRED IMPROVEMENTS

Section 1. Required Improvements.

- 1. The subdivider of a proposed subdivision shall provide by one of the methods set out in these regulations in Article VIII for the installation of the following facilities and improvements: When within the City of Haysville:
 - a. All roadways, alleys, curbs, gutters, and street drainage facilities in accordance with the standards set by the City Engineer.
 - b. All sidewalks located within the public areas, in accordance with the standards set by the City Engineer under the following conditions:
 - i. Sidewalks may be required on one or both sides of the street when needed to service pedestrian traffic flow leading to schools, parks, shopping areas or places of public assembly and where heavy traffic would warrant sidewalks for safety purposes. Sidewalks shall be required to extend or complete connecting links in the sidewalk system.
 - ii. In general, sidewalks shall be 6 feet wide and constructed with the inside edge of the sidewalk adjacent to the property line; an approved sidewalk plan can provide for an alternate placement.
 - iii. All sidewalks shall provide handicap access in conformity with K.S.A. 58-1301 et seq. and the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 42 USCA 12101, as may be amended.
 - c. A water supply system for each lot in the proposed subdivision in conformity with the requirements of the City Engineer. In addition thereto and where feasible, such water supply system shall be connected to the size of the city water main at such point and the expected demand of the proposed subdivision.
 - d. Fire hydrants, which are in accordance with the standards of the City Engineer and County Fire Chief.
 - e. A sanitary sewer system for each lot meeting all specifications of the City Engineer, and when required by law, the State Board of Health and/or local Health Department authorities. Such sanitary sewer system shall be connected to the sanitary sewer system of the city at such point or points as the City Engineer shall determine, based upon the location and size of the City's engineered system in relation to the estimated flow of the sanitary system of the proposed subdivision.
 - f. A storm sewer system, separate and independent of the sanitary sewer system, meeting all of the specifications of the City Engineer. Such approved storm sewer system shall be connected to any existing storm sewer system of the City if such system is available and has adequate capacity. If such connection or capacity is not available, other adequate means for the discharge of such storm sewer system shall be provided by the subdivider. Plans for mitigating stormwater pollution may be required by the engineer.
 - g. A street lighting system meeting the requirements of the City Engineer.

- h. Street signs of such location, type and size as shall be approved by the City Engineer, giving due regard to the prevailing type, size and pattern of location utilized throughout the city.
- i. Monuments shall be placed at all block corners, angle points, points of curves in streets and at points as shall be required by the City Engineer. The monuments shall be of such material, size, and length as may be approved by the City or County Engineer.
- j. Underground wiring in residential subdivisions, including both electrical power and communication service, except:
 - i. For lines rated over 12,000 volts.
 - ii. Appurtenances serving such lines which may be mounted on the ground, such as transformers, transformer pads and telephone service pedestals.
 - iii. For those proposed subdivisions or replats of existing subdivisions located in areas which presently have an overhead type of distribution system.
 - iv. All such construction and installation shall be under contract with the applicable utility company. Construction or installation shall occur after sanitary sewer lines, if any, are in place.
 - v. Nothing in this section shall be construed as to requiring underground installation of lines beyond the boundaries of the area contained in the preliminary plat.
- k. Concrete, masonry and/or decorative iron fences or walls 6' in height and/or landscaping shall be constructed or provided where proposed residential subdivisions abuts arterial and / or other such street having relatively high traffic volumes and where abutting lots do not have access to such a street, provided that:
 - i. Walls, iron fences, and landscaping shall not be placed in the vision triangle or otherwise impair the vision of motorists.
 - ii. Walls, iron fences and landscaping shall be maintained by the developer, property owner or homeowner's association.
 - iii. Walls or iron fences shall be constructed within a wall easement that is at least 5 feet in width and is located adjacent to the street right-of-way.
 - iv. Utilities may cross wall easements, but walls or iron fences shall not be constructed in a utility easement unless such construction is approved by the City Engineer. Based on a recommendation of the City Engineer, the construction of walls or iron fences over a utility easement may require execution of a Hold Harmless Agreement, a commitment for special wall or fence construction provisions, i.e., removable sections, or the making of satisfactory arrangements with affected utility companies. Any special arrangements made necessary by proposed perimeter wall or iron fence construction for a subdivision shall be completed prior to submitting the plat for scheduling before the Planning Commission.

- v. Wall and iron fences shall not exceed 6 feet in height unless authorized by the Planning Commission.
- 1. Where required, applicable measures will be taken during construction to minimize soil erosion and sedimentation by wind or water and to mitigate stormwater pollution as required by City Code and further subject to the regulations of Kansas Department of Health and Environment.

2. When outside the City of Haysville:

- a. All roadways, alleys, curbs, gutters and street drainage facilities in accordance with the standards set by the County Engineer.
- b. A water supply system for each lot in the proposed subdivision in conformity with the requirements of the appropriate jurisdiction. In addition thereto, and where feasible, such water supply systems shall be connected to the city water system, at the most advantageous points, taking into account the size of the water main at such point and the expected demand of the proposed subdivision. Where reasonable practical dead-end water mains shall be avoided.
- c. A sanitary sewer system for each lot in conformity with all specifications of the City of Wichita Department of Environmental Health/Sedgwick County Code Enforcement, as applicable.
- d. A storm sewer system, separate and independent of the sanitary sewer system meeting all of the specifications of the County Engineer.
- e. Street signs of such location, type and size as shall be approved by the County Engineer, giving due regard to the prevailing type, size and pattern of location utilized throughout the county.
- f. Monuments shall be placed at all block corners, angle points, points of curves in streets, and at intermediate points as shall be required by the County Engineer.

Section 2. Exceptions for Existing Improvements

- (1) Where the proposed subdivision is a resubdivision and concerns an area presently having any or all required improvements set out in the preceding section, and where such improvements meet the requirements of said section, no further provision need be made by the subdividers to duplicate such improvements. However, where such existing improvements do not meet the requirements of the preceding section, the subdivider shall repair, correct, or replace such improvements so that all improvements will then meet the aforesaid requirements.
- Where the proposed subdivision is a resubdivision or concerns an area presently abutting or containing an existing public street of less than the minimum required right-of-way or roadway width, land shall be dedicated so as to provide the minimum required street width, except as designated by the Planning Commission, and the subdivider of such proposed subdivision shall provide an additional roadway pavement meeting the minimum standards set by the appropriate engineer. The appropriate engineer shall determine what adjustment to make where the

aforesaid widenings merge with existing streets which are of smaller width at the boundary of such proposed subdivision. The foregoing provisions requiring the widening of pavement shall not apply when the length of such pavement is less than 120 feet, or two dwelling units deep, whichever is less.

Section 3. Waiver of Required Improvements or Guarantees of Installation of Same.

Any waiver of the required improvements may be made only by the Haysville Governing Body on a showing that such improvement is technically not feasible.

Section 4. Agreement And Guarantees For Installation Of Required Improvements.

Except for monuments and landscaping, one of the following methods shall be used by the subdivider to guarantee that improvements required by these regulations can or will be installed in accordance with approved plans and specifications. This does not preclude the possibility that the Governing Body or the Board of County Commissioners may, at their discretion and in recognition of their financial position, share in the cost of oversized improvements which may benefit other related areas or the City or County-at-large:

- 1. Petitions to the Governing Body of the City or County as applicable shall be submitted for all phases of improvements within the proposed subdivision as a means of guaranteeing to the Governing Body the authority to install improvements. All of the following conditions shall be met:
 - a. The petitions (to be secured from the applicable engineer) must be valid as provided under Kansas law.
 - b. The petitions must be concurred in by the applicable engineer and accepted and approved by the applicable governing body concurrently with the approval of the final plat.
 - c. The initiating resolution for such improvement must be adopted by the applicable Governing Body concurrently with the petition approval or as soon thereafter as may be provided by law. The cost of the publication of said resolution shall be borne by the subdivider.
 - d. Documents must be filed with the Register of Deeds showing either the petitions or a certificate signed by the petitioners stating that such petitions have been filed and approved by a governing body and that certain lands as described will be liable in the future for special assessments for the required improvements which are to be listed on the certificate.
- 2. As an option to special assessments, the owner/subdivider may elect to install required improvements without City financing. The following procedures shall apply:
 - a. The owners and/or the subdivider of the land proposed to be subdivided shall enter into a developer's agreement with the City or County (depending on the area in which the subdivision is located), under which the owners and/or subdivider agree to install such required improvements at their own expense in accordance with the approved plans and specifications, within the time prescribed by the provisions of

- these regulations. Such agreements shall constitute a contract between the City and the subdivider and all appropriate parties to the agreement shall have their signatures acknowledged. A developer's agreement shall be conditioned upon the approval of the final plat and filed either with the City Clerk or County Clerk depending upon the location of the land being subdivided.
- b. Simultaneously with the execution of the agreement provide for in the Subsection above, the owner and/or the subdivider of the land proposed to be subdivided shall furnish a corporate completion bond, with good and sufficient sureties thereon, or a cashier check, escrow account, or irrevocable letter of credit in favor of the City, in the amount of the cost as estimated by the official responsible for setting and enforcing the applicable design and construction standards of the installation of the required improvements as aforesaid. Such bond shall be conditioned upon the approval of the final plat and further conditioned upon the actual completion and installation of such required improvements within two years from the date that the final plat is approved by the Planning Commission.

ARTICLE VIII. IMPROVEMENT PROCEDURES

Section 1. Petitions.

If the subdivider intends to submit petitions to the governing body as the means to guarantee improvements required by Article VII of these regulations, the subdivider shall so advise the appropriate engineer at the time of the preliminary plat. If the petition method is authorized by the appropriate engineer, petitions shall be submitted to that engineer for forwarding to the appropriate governing body. For petitions to be acceptable guarantees, they must be approved by the governing body concurrently with the final plat. If petitions are rejected by the appropriate governing body, then a platting requirement has not been met and the subdivision shall not be approved by the governing body. In this instance, the plat shall be placed on hold until such time as the applicant has resolved his financial obligations, or has selected another acceptable guarantee method (i.e., cash deposit, actual construction, letter of credit or performance bond).

Section 2. Final Improvement Plans

When the use of petitions has not been authorized by the appropriate engineer, or proposed petitions have been rejected by a governing body, the subdivider shall have a licensed professional engineer prepare engineering drawings for the required improvements. The engineering drawings shall contain all data and information specified in Section 3 below. Such drawings shall be certified by a licensed professional engineer, and shall be submitted in duplicate to the City Engineer or County Engineer, if appropriate, at least thirty days prior to the date that approval of the final plat is requested. Failure to do so will be considered automatic consent to an extension of, or waiver, by the subdivider of any time limitation for plat approval. The subdivider may contract with any governmental agency or public utility company to prepare the required engineering drawings.

The engineer having jurisdiction may waive the requirement for submission of final improvement plans, prior to the plat being considered by the governing body if, in the engineer's opinion, adequate substitute information has been submitted. In this instance, information shall be submitted that permits a determination of expected costs for both the preparation of final improvement plans and the installation of required improvements. The guarantee submitted shall be of a sufficient dollar amount to cover the costs of plan preparation and improvement construction.

Section 3. Content of Engineering Drawings.

Engineering drawings for required improvements shall contain the following data and information:

1. Plans, details, specifications and cost estimates for roadway and sidewalk (if any) construction, including plans, survey indicating existing topography and elevation, including curb and sidewalk elevation, intersection control elevation and paving geometrics for each street with a typical cross section of the roadway. This information shall be shown on standard plan and profile sheets unless otherwise required by the appropriate engineer.

- 2. Plans, profiles, details, specifications, and cost estimates of proposed storm drainage improvements.
- 3. Plans, profiles, details, specifications, and cost estimates of proposed water distribution systems and proposed water supply facilities and fire hydrants, if any.
- 4. Plans, profiles, details, specifications and cost estimates of sewage systems and of sewage treatment plants, if any.
- 5. Grading plans for all lots and other sites in the subdivision.
- 6. When unusual site conditions exist, the Planning Commission may require such additional plans, specifications and drawings as may be necessary for an adequate review of the improvements to be installed.
- 7. All plans shall be based on North American Vertical Datum of 1988 (NAVD 88) for vertical control.
- 8. All plans for underground and overhead wiring and gas lines shall be prepared by, or at the direction of, the utility involved.

Section 4. Review of Plans.

The appropriate engineer, either city or county, shall review all engineering drawings in order to determine whether such drawings are consistent with the approved preliminary plat and comply with their design standards. If such drawings are consistent and so comply, the engineer shall forward to the Planning Commission, a notice that they so conform and comply. In the event that the drawings do not so conform or comply, the engineer shall notify the subdivider of the specific manner in which such drawings do not so conform or comply, and he may then correct such drawings. If such drawings are not corrected, the reviewing official shall forward to the Planning Commission, a notice as to the items of nonconformity or noncompliance.

Section 5. Approval of Planning Commission.

The Planning Commission shall approve a final plat only when the approval of the engineer has been received that the plans and engineering drawings have been approved or that the appropriate petitions, if authorized, have been filed with the Governing Body.

Section 6. Construction of Improvements.

No improvements shall be constructed nor shall any work preliminary thereto be done until such time as a final plat and the engineering drawings accompanying it shall have been approved and there shall have been compliance with all of the requirements relating to an agreement, bond and deposit specified in Article VIII, of these regulations.

Section 7. Inspection.

All improvements constructed or erected shall be subject to inspection by the appropriate engineer. The cost attributable to all inspections required by this regulation shall be charged to and paid by

the subdivider. Before any construction or required inspections take place, the subdivider shall post a deposit with the City or County Engineer or such agency entrusted to keep such security for the official, to cover the cost of such inspections. The subdivider shall give at least 48 hours written notification to such official prior to the performance of any of the following work:

- 1. All phases of roadway and sidewalk construction.
- 2. All phases of construction, including, but not limited to water lines, sanitary sewer lines, storm sewer, underground wiring and other required improvement.

Section 8. Inspection Procedures.

After notice is received as specified in Article VII, the official designated in Article VII may conduct an on-site inspection to determine that the work complies with the approved engineering plans and specifications. If in the opinion of the engineer, such work does not comply with such final drawings, he shall have authority to order that all such work shall be terminated until such time as necessary steps are taken to correct any defects or deficiencies. Upon the correction of such defects or deficiencies, the subdivider shall again notify the official as provided in the preceding subsection.

Section 9. Final Inspection.

Upon completion of all improvements within the area covered by the final plat, the subdivider shall notify the appropriate engineer, who shall thereupon conduct a final inspection of all improvements installed. If such final inspection indicates that there are any defects or deficiencies in any such improvements as installed, or if there are any deviations in such improvements as installed from the final engineering plans and specifications, he shall notify the subdivider in writing of such defects, deficiencies, or deviations and the subdivider shall, at his sole cost and expense, correct such defects or deviations within six months of the date and notification.

When such defects, deficiencies or deviations have been corrected, the subdivider shall notify the engineer that the improvements are again ready for final inspection. After the final inspection is made and before acceptance of the improvement by the governing body, the subdivider shall execute and file an affidavit with the appropriate engineer certifying that all obligations incurred in the construction of the improvement involved have been properly paid and settled.

Section 10. Report to Governing Body.

If a final inspection indicates that all improvements as installed contain no defects, deficiencies, or deviations, within 10 days from the completion of such inspection, the official shall certify to the Governing Body that all improvements have been installed in conformity with the engineering plans and specifications accompanying the final plat. The receipt of such notification by the Governing Body shall constitute the date on which the six month period specified in Section 10, Article IV shall commence.

Section 11. Acceptance of Improvements.

Upon the receipt by the Governing Body of the certificate of the appropriate engineer that all improvements have been installed in accordance with the engineering drawings, as approved and in conformity with the requirements of this regulation and all other applicable statutes, ordinances and regulations, the Governing Body shall thereupon by resolution or utility by letter formally accept such improvements. The improvements shall become the property of the Governing Body.

Section 12. Vacation of Undeveloped Subdivision.

When no lots on a plat of subdivision have been sold, the subdivider may request the vacation of the plat prior to the time that the improvements covered by the bond are installed, and when such plat is vacated, all fiscal sureties shall be returned to the subdivider.

ARTICLE IX. BUILDING AND OTHER PERMITS

Section 1. Permits.

No building permit, zoning certificate or occupancy certificate, except for the situations indicated shall be issued for a building or structure on any lot of any subdivision that is subject to the provisions of these regulations until a certified copy of the duly recorded or registered plat of subdivision has been filed with the official charged with issuing building permits and/or zoning certificates. No such permits or certificates shall be issued until there has been compliance with all of the provisions of these regulations, including but not limited to provisions of these regulations related to the approval of plans and specifications for required improvements and the posting of bonds and establishment of escrows to secure the completion of such improvements.

No occupancy certificate for the use of any structure or use within a subdivision approved for platting, replatting or lot splitting shall be issued until required utility facilities have been installed and made ready to service the property; roadways providing access to the subject lot or lots have been constructed or are in the course of construction; or guarantees have been provided to ensure the installation of such utilities and roadways.

For existing structures or uses on an unplatted tract or on a portion or portions of platted lots, building permits may be issued for purposes of repair and maintenance of such structures or the continuation of the existing use. Additions to or expansion of principal structures of the addition of an accessory use when a principal structure already exists shall be allowed only if the involved property would otherwise be in compliance with the area's zoning and all normal requirements of that zoning such as setbacks, lot coverage, height limitations and so forth. In no case shall a non-residential use, multi-family use involving four or more dwelling units or continuation of an existing use be allowed to expand, make additions, and/or add accessory structures that would exceed 50% of the gross square footage of the existing principal structure or structures or use on the site without such site first complying with the above noted requirements.

ARTICLE X. APPEALS AND VARIANCES

Section 1. Appeals General.

The subdivider of a proposed subdivision may appeal decisions made in the enforcement of these regulations by the Planning Commission, to the Governing Body of the City of Haysville. Any such appeal shall provide a hearing de novo (hearing of new evidence). In the event the Governing Body sustains the Planning Commission, the action of the Planning Commission shall be final, except, as otherwise provided by law. If the Governing Body over rules the Planning Commission, the Governing Body shall make its decision, in writing, stating the reason therefore and return such decision and plat to the Planning Commission for reapproval as required by law.

Section 2. Variances.

In cases in which there is unwarranted hardship in carrying out the literal provisions of these regulations as to design criteria, e.g. lot width, lot depth, block length, etc., the Planning Commission may grant a variance from such provision.

- 1. The Planning Commission shall not grant a variance unless it shall find that the strict application of these regulations will create an unwarranted hardship and unless the proposed variance is in harmony with the intended purpose of these regulations and that the public safety and welfare will be protected.
- 2. Variances permitted under the provisions of this Article shall not include variances from the requirements of making improvements required in Article VII, unless approved by the Governing Body as provided for in the preceding Section. Consideration of an application for a variance pursuant to this condition does not relieve the applicant from the necessity of proceeding under the applicable provisions of any other regulations (including zoning regulations) of the city or county relating to variances.
- 3. When used in this Section, the term "unwarranted hardship" shall mean the complete deprivation of use as distinguished from a mere inconvenience.

Section 3. Variance – Planned Unit Development.

When a plat or subdivision is prepared in connection with a planned unit development authorized by any legally adopted zoning regulation regulating the same area, then the Planning Commission may vary the design standards contained in this regulation to such extent as may be necessary to permit the preparation of a planned development plan in accordance with the standards, conditions and restrictions of such zoning regulation.

ARTICLE XI. LOT – SPLITS

Section 1. General Intent and Purpose

In order to provide a less time consuming and costly procedure for the division of existing platted lots, resulting in the creation of additional building sites, the Planning Commission hereby delegates to the Zoning Administrator, authority for approving or disapproving lot splits in accordance with the following regulations. Lots zoned residential, office, or commercial may be split to create a maximum of four (4) lots; industrially zoned lots may have unlimited lot splits subject to the approval guidelines listed below. A lot split is required before a building permit can be issued for any property that is the remainder of an original lot from which other portions have been split or replatted.

Section 2. Application Procedure.

Requests for lot split approval shall be made by the owner of the land to the Zoning Administrator. The request for approval shall consist of the following:

- 1. A completed lot split application form.
- 2. The appropriate filing fee as established in Chapter 17 of the Municipal Code of Haysville, Kansas and shall be paid at the time of permit application.
- 3. Two (2) copies of a drawing to scale shall be submitted of the lot(s) involved if there are no structures present; and if structures exist on any part of the lot(s) being split, two (2) copies of a survey, prepared by a licensed land surveyor of the lot(s) showing the precise location of structures thereon shall be submitted. The drawing or survey shall depict or provide the following:
 - a. The precise nature, location and dimensions of the proposed split;
 - b. The legal description(s) for the proposed split;
 - c. The amount of square footage contained in each portion of the original lot;
 - d. All existing easements and, if any, access control. If the easements or access control were granted by separate instrument, the recording information shall be indicated;
 - e. All platted building setbacks;
 - f. All platted easements, building setbacks, access control or public rights-of-way that have been previously vacated. The Vacation Ordinance number or recording information for the Vacation Order shall be referenced; and
 - g. The following certificate of Approval.

CERTIFICATE OF LOT SPLIT APPROVAL	
STATE OF KANSAS)
) ss
CITY OF HAYSVILLI	
Administrator and found	ot split has been examined by Haysville City Zoning to comply with the Subdivision Regulations of the s, and is, therefore, approved for recording.
Date Signed:	, 20
	, (Printed Title)
	(Print Name)
STATE OF KANSAS)
) ss
CITY OF HAYSVILLI	
0 0	at was acknowledged before me thisday of, by
(SEAL)	
	, Notary Public
My appointment expires	·

4. Two (2) copies of a drawing that indicates the location of existing municipal water mains, water meters and sanitary sewer laterals that serve the lot split site.

Section 3. Approval Guidelines.

Approval or disapproval of lot splits shall be made based on the following guidelines:

- 1. A lot split shall <u>not</u> be approved unless <u>all</u> the following requirements have or can be satisfied:
 - a. A new street or alley is needed or proposed.

- b. A vacation of streets, alleys, setback lines, access control or easements is required and has not been satisfied.
- c. Such action will result in significant increases in service requirements, e.g., utilities, drainage, schools, traffic control, streets, etc.; or will interfere with maintaining existing services, e.g., additional curb cuts, repaying, etc.
- d. There is less street right-of-way than required by these regulations or the Comprehensive Plan unless such dedication can be made by separate instrument.
- e. All easement requirements have not been satisfied.
- f. Such split will result in a landlocked tract. (Access easements are an appropriate means to provide access to lots without public road frontage.)
- g. A substandard sized lot or parcel will be created or an existing structure will not be able to meet all yard requirements according to applicable zoning regulations or sanitary code.
- h. The lot is subject to periodic flooding which cannot be feasibly corrected by fill.
- 2. Review of lot splits by affected and interested governmental and public and private organizations as appropriate may be required for lot splits that may result in significant increases in service requirements (e.g., utilities, schools, traffic controls, etc.), interfere with maintaining existing service levels (e.g., additional curb cuts, repaving, etc.) or propose private easements for access and/or utilities. Such determination shall be made by the Zoning Administrator. If a review by these organizations is necessary, 25 additional copies of the lot split drawing or survey shall be provided by the applicant along with information regarding the location of existing utilities.
- 3. The Zoning Administrator may make such additional requirements as deemed necessary to carry out the intent and purpose of existing land development regulations and Governing Body policy. Requirements may include, but not be limited to, the installation of public facilities, dedication of right-of-way and easements, and submission of covenants for the protection of other land owner (s) in the original subdivision.
- 4. The Zoning Administrator shall, in writing, either approve with or without conditions or disapprove the lot-split within 30 days of application. If approved, and after all conditions have been met, the appropriate Zoning Administrator shall sign the certificate of approval on the lot split drawing or survey. A certified copy thereof shall be filed with the Register of Deeds, the official designated to issue building or occupancy permits, the official files of the Planning Commission, and a copy shall be furnished to the applicant.

ARTICLE XII. AMENDMENTS

Section 1. Procedure.

Before adopting or amending any subdivision regulations, the Planning Commission shall call and hold a hearing on such regulations or amendments thereto. Notice of such hearing shall be published at least once in the official city newspaper. Such notice shall be published at least 20 days prior to the hearing. Such notice shall fix the time and place for such hearing and shall describe such proposal in general terms. The Planning Commission shall prepare its recommendations and by a majority vote adopt the proposed subdivision regulations and shall submit them in writing with a written summary of the hearing to the Governing Body.

The Governing Body either may approve, override or return amendments for reconsideration to the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission may resubmit original, new or amended recommendations to the Governing Body. Upon return from the Planning Commission to the Governing Body, the Governing Body by simple majority may adopt, revise, or amend and adopt or take no further action. If the Planning Commission fails to deliver its recommendations to the Governing Body following the Planning Commission's next regular meeting, the Governing Body shall consider it as a resubmission of the original recommendations and proceed accordingly. The proposed subdivision regulations and any amendments thereto shall become effective upon publication of the respective adopting ordinance.

ARTICLE XIII. SEVERABILITY AND EFFECTIVE DATE

Section 1. Severability.

If any provisions of these regulations are held to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction, then such provisions shall be considered separately and apart from the remaining provisions of these regulations so as to be completely severable and the remaining provisions of these regulations shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 2. Effective Date.

These regulations shall take effect and be in force from and after their adoption by the Planning Commission, approval by the City Council of an ordinance incorporating these regulations by reference and publication of such ordinance in the official City newspaper.